FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/15/2018 3:40 PM NO. 34467-3-III

96225-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THOMAS L. SLUMAN, a single individual,

Respondent/Plaintiff,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON by and through the WASHINGTON STATE PATROL; BART H. OLSON, individually and in his official capacity as a TROOPER of the WASHINGTON STATE PATROL; and JANE/JOHN DOE I-X, individually and as Employees/Agents of the WASHINGTON STATE PATROL and/or the STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioners/Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
	A.	Ma	terial Facts Not in Dispute	4		
	B.	Procedural History6				
IV.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED					
	A.	Ru	The Court of Appeals Undermines RCW 4.24.420 by Ruling That the Statute Does Not Preclude this Personal Injury Claim by a Felon Injured by Committing a Felony8			
		1.	The Court of Appeals ruled that RCW 4.24.420 may not bar Sluman's personal injury claim if the force used to apprehend Sluman was an intervening proximate cause	8		
		2.	The Court of Appeals proximate cause reasoning is error and frustrates the clear statutory purpose	9		
	В.		e Court Should Review the Court of Appeals Denial of alified Immunity to Sgt. Olson	.12		
		1.	Overview of two-part test for qualified immunity on § 1983 claims	.12		
		2.	The Court of Appeals' analysis of the lawfulness of the use of force under the first, merits prong of the qualified immunity test is seriously flawed and should be reversed	.13		
			a. The Court of Appeals erred by failing to limit its analysis of the facts to those known by a reasonable officer at the scene at the time when force was utilized	.13		

	b. The Court of Appeals erred in only authorizing use of deadly force by law enforcement when a serious risk of harm already exists at the moment when such force is used
3.	The Court of Appeals' analysis of the lawfulness of the use of force under the second, clearly established prong of the qualified immunity test is not based on any controlling precedent and should be reversed
V. CONCL	USION20
APPENDIX A	
APPENDIX B	
APPENDIX C	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Abney v. Coe, 493 F.3d 412 (4th Cir. 2007)
Albertson v. State, 191 Wn. App. 284, 361 P.3d 808 (2015)
Anderson v. Dreis & Krump Mfg. Corp., 48 Wn. App. 432, 739 P.2d 1177 (1987)
Bell v. City of E. Cleveland, 125 F.3d 855 (6th Cir. 1997)
Brosseau v. Haugen, 543 U.S. 194, 125 S. Ct. 596, 160 L. Ed. 2d. 583 (2004) 16, 17, 19
Campbell v. ITE Imperial Corp., 107 Wn.2d 807, 733 P.2d 969 (1987)
City & Cty. of San Francisco Cal. v. Sheehan, U.S, 135 S. Ct. 1765, 191 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2015)
Coitrone v. Murray, No. 13-00132, 2015 WL 2384298 (W.D. Ky. May 19, 2015), aff'd in part, 642 F.3d. App'x 517 (6th Cir. 2016)
Cordova v. Aragon, 569 F.3d 1183 (10th Cir. 2009)
Davis v. Scherer, 468 U.S. 183, 104 S. Ct. 3012, 82 L. Ed. 2d 139 (1984)
Devenpeck v. Alford, 543 U.S. 146, 125 S. Ct. 588, 160 L. Ed. 2d 537 (2004)
<i>District of Columbia v. Wesby</i> , U.S, 138 S. Ct. 577, 199 L. Ed. 2d 453 (2018)

Estate of Lopez ex rel. Lopez v. Gelhaus, 871 F.3d 998 (9th Cir. 2017)
Fenwick v. Pudimott, 778 F.3d 133 (D.C. Cir. 2015)
Gallegos v. Freeman, 172 Wn. App. 616, 291 P.3d 265 (2013)
Latits v. Phillips, 878 F.3d 541 (6th Cir. 2017)
Mullenix v. Luna, U.S, 136 S. Ct. 305, 314, 193 L. Ed. 2d 255 (2015) 7, 17, 18
Pasco ex rel. Pasco v. Knoblauch, 556 F. 3d 562 (5th Cir. 2009) 16
Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 129 S. Ct. 808, 172 L. Ed. 2d 565 (2009)
Plumhoff v. Rickard, U.S, 134 S. Ct. 2012, 188 L. Ed. 2d 1056 (2014)
Reichle v. Howards, 556 U.S., 658, 132 S. Ct. 2088, 182 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2012)
Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 127 S. Ct. 1769, 167 L. Ed. 2d 686 (2007) 5, 16, 17, 20
Segaline v. State Dep't of Labor & Indus., 199 Wn. App. 748, 400 P.3d 1281 (2017)
Sharp v. Fischer, No. 406CV020, 2007 WL 2177123 (SD. Ga. 2007), aff'd, 532 F.3d 1180 (11th Cir. 2008)
Sluman v. State, 3 Wn. App. 2d 656, 418 P 3d 125 (2018)

Staats v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 757, 991 P.2d 615 (2000)
Vaughan v. Cox, 343 F.3d 1323 (11th Cir. 2003)
Virginia v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164, 128 S. Ct. 1598, 170 L. Ed. 2d 559 (2008)
<u>Statutes</u>
42 U.S.C. § 1983
RCW 4.24.420
RCW 26.44.050
RCW 46.61.024
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4)
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)
Other Authorities
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 442 (1965)
<i>Restatement (Second) of Torts</i> § 449 (1965)

I. INTRODUCTION

Thomas Sluman sued the Washington State Patrol (WSP) and Sargent Bart Olson (Sgt. Olson) in his individual capacity for injuries he incurred when he lost control of his motorcycle when engaging in the felony of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle. The Court of Appeals ruled that RCW 4.24.420 does not bar Sluman's state law claims and reversed summary judgement dismissing Sluman's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim against Sgt. Olson. These rulings warrant this Court's review.

State law provides "a complete defense to any action for damages for personal injury or wrongful death" when "the person injured or killed was engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death and the felony was a proximate cause of the injury or death." RCW 4.24.420.

While two Court of Appeals judges agreed Mr. Sluman was injured while engaging in the felony of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle in violation of RCW 46.61.024,¹ a divided panel also concluded there was a question of fact as to whether it was foreseeable that law enforcement would use force to stop a fleeing felon. Yet liability resulting from felonious conduct is precisely what the statute is intended to preclude.

¹ Copies of all statutes cited in this Petition are contained in Appendix (App.) B.

This interpretation fundamentally undermines the operative effect of the statute.

On the federal § 1983 claim, officers are entitled to qualified immunity under § 1983 unless 1) they violated a federal constitutional right, and 2) the unlawfulness of their conduct was clearly established at the time.² On the first, merits prong of the qualified immunity test, the Court of Appeals ignored controlling precedent by viewing the facts with the full benefit of 20/20 hindsight rather than limiting information to what a reasonable officer would have known at the scene. In addition, the Court restricted the use of deadly force by law enforcement to situations where risk of harm already exists, when controlling precedent allows the use of such force in situations where risk of harm to others is imminent, but does not contemporarily exist. On the second, clearly established law prong, the Court's analysis was backwards—denying qualified immunity because there was no decision holding an analogous use of lethal force to be lawful—when the question the Court should have been asking was whether there was controlling precedent clearly establishing that the use of force in a comparable case was unlawful.

Either individually or collectively, each of these errors warrant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Reversal by this Court would also

 $^{^2}$ Reichle v. Howards, 556 U.S., 658, 664, 132 S. Ct. 2088, 182 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2012).

undo the injustice of labeling Sgt. Olson as a "rogue officer" when his actions were legitimately and lawfully taken to protect the public from the serious and imminent harm posed by Mr. Sluman.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. At the moment of his injury, the video shows Mr. Sluman disobeying law enforcement directions to stop and accelerating his motorcycle to elude capture. In analyzing the felony bar rule, RCW 4.24.420, the Court of Appeals held there was a question of fact as to whether it was reasonably foreseeable that a law enforcement officer would open the door of his car to try and stop Mr. Sluman. Did the Court of Appeals err concluding it was not reasonably foreseeable that law enforcement officers would attempt to apprehend a fleeing felon?
- 2. The Court of Appeals' analysis of the first, merits prong of the qualified immunity test conflicts with controlling precedent and established Fourth Amendment jurisprudence by (1) retrospectively analyzing what occurred through 20/20 hindsight, and (2) limiting an officer's use of force in a situation where a serious risk of harm already exists, rather than when such risk is imminent. Did these serious errors in the Court of Appeals' analysis taint its conclusion that Sgt. Olson's use of force violated the Fourth Amendment?
 - 3. The Court of Appeals' analysis of the second, clearly

established prong of the qualified immunity test is backwards—denying qualified immunity because there are no cases authorizing a use of force in a situation similar to this case, when the proper question is whether there is controlling precedent that clearly prohibits it. Did the Court of Appeals err in denying Sgt. Olson qualified immunity when there is no controlling precedent clearly establishing how imminent or immediate a risk of harm must be before a reasonable officer can utilize force to stop a fleeing felon?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Material Facts Not in Dispute

On July 21, 2010, a five-officer WSP team was working the Ellensburg area along Interstate 90 (I-90) between mileposts 98 and 102, in Kittitas County, Washington. CP at 38, 145. Trooper John Montemayor was piloting a State Patrol aircraft (Smokey 6) and Troopers David Hinchliff, Steven Houle, Bart Olson, and Paul Blume were making speed stops. CP at 35-40, 136-42, 144-67.

Trooper Hinchliff advised radio of his pursuit of a black motorcycle onto South Thorpe Highway off exit 101 from I-90. Smokey 6 informed Hinchliff by radio that after exiting I-90 the motorcycle had "accelerated to well over 120 [MPH] in an attempt to elude [him]." CP at 38. While Hinchliff pursued the motorcycle, Troopers Houle, Blume and Olson traveled on I-90 to exit 106 to where the South Thorpe Highway reenters

I-90 after running parallel to I-90 for five miles. CP at 45.

Sgt. Olson's dashboard camera and report shows many cars and trucks on I-90. When Sgt. Olson exits I-90 and turns onto the South Thorp Highway he passes several vehicles near the KOA campground. *See* Dashcam Video (DV) at 9:37:40-41.³ Two vehicles can be seen stopped just short of the South Thorp Highway Bridge. Trooper Houle can be seen crossing the Bridge with lights and sirens activated. CP at 46-50, 146-48; DV 9:37, 9:46-50. As Sgt. Olson began to drive across the Bridge over the river, he "observed the black motorcycle round the curve on the other end of the Bridge at a high rate of speed and pass Trooper Houle." CP at 45, 78-89; DV at 9:37:50 AM.

Sgt. Olson stopped his patrol car straddling the centerline on the Bridge. CP at 45, 148-49. This left sufficient clearance for a semi-tractor to drive on either side of his vehicle. CP at 49, 52-53, 788-89; DV at 9:37:00 to 9:37:53.⁴ Sgt. Olson's emergency lights and siren remained engaged. CP at 148; DV at 9:37:53. Trooper Blume's vehicle was positioned directly

³ Based upon the United States Supreme Court decision in *Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372, 127 S. Ct. 1769, 167 L. Ed. 2d 686 (2007), Mr. Sluman cannot testify or present testimony or witnesses contrary to the videotape. The videotape constitutes the undisputed facts in this case. In order to fully understand the injustice of the Court of Appeals' decision below, **PLEASE WATCH THE VIDEO at 9:37:40-54.**

 $^{^4}$ The majority concluded that Sgt. Olson orchestrated a roadblock. *Sluman*, ¶ 31. This conclusion directly contradicts the dashcam video that shows State Patrol vehicles and a semi-tractor trailer driving on each side of Sgt. Olson's vehicle. CP at 49, 352-53, 788-89 (DV at 9:37:00-53).

behind Sgt. Olson. CP at 173.

After Mr. Sluman passed Trooper Houle at the south end of the Bridge, Trooper Houle made a U-Turn and began pursuing Mr. Sluman northbound across the Bridge towards Sgt. Olson. CP at 78-89; DV 9:37:51. After initially slowing down, Mr. Sluman accelerated his motorcycle attempting to pass Sgt. Olson. But, he hit the door on Sgt. Olson's vehicle, causing Mr. Sluman to lose control of his motorcycle and fall off the Bridge. DV 9:37:53. Two members of the public who were under the Bridge in the KOA campground saw Mr. Sluman go over the Bridge railing and land nearby. CP at 46, 670. When asked at the scene why he did not stop, Mr. Sluman answered, "Because I had warrants." CP at 788-89, 152-53, 345-50.

B. Procedural History

Sluman was seriously injured and sued the WSP on a variety of state law theories and Sgt. Olson in his individual capacity under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. CP at 1-11. The superior court dismissed all claims on summary

⁵ The majority opinion uses the term "door checked" 17 times in the majority opinion and muses in the opening paragraph that the term may be derived from the term "check" in hockey. None of the parties to the case ever used the term "door checked." The majority errs when it states: "Law enforcement refers to the officers' tactic as door checking." *Sluman*, ¶ 2. The majority opinion also indicates that: "The parties refer to Olson's maneuver as 'door checking'." *Sluman*, ¶ 14. These errors culminate in the court's conclusion "we proceed on the assumption that Officer Bart Olson's door checking constituted deadly force." *Sluman*, ¶ 41. To be clear, the parties never used the term door checking. That term was first imported into the case by plaintiff's expert, Steve Harbison, on September 1, 2015. CP at 739.

judgment. CP at 782-83.

The Court of Appeals reversed. In short, two members of the Court ruled that there was a genuine issue of material fact whether Sluman's injuries were proximately caused by committing a felony. *Sluman v. State*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 656, ¶ 115, 418 P.3d 125 (2018) (attached as App. A). The panel also concluded that the record viewed in a light favorable to the plaintiff might demonstrate unconstitutional use of force to stop the motorcycle, *Sluman*, ¶¶ 35-62, and concluded that the alleged constitutional violation was so "clearly established" that Sgt. Olson lost his qualified immunity. *Sluman*, ¶¶ 63-95.6

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals also repeatedly focused upon alleged, irrelevant State Patrol policy violations ultimately disparaging Sgt. Olson as a "rogue officer". Petitioners respectfully request that review

⁶ For purposes of his motion below and this appeal, WSP and Sgt. Olson conceded that the evidence in the record viewed in favor of Sluman could support his theory that Sgt. Olson used the car door to stop Sluman's speeding motorcycle. In this light, this case require analysis of qualified immunity for an officer's use of deadly force to effectuate a seizure. But if summary judgment is not reinstated, defendants reserve factual arguments to the contrary, including their view of the facts that the injury was caused by Sluman slowing then accelerating into the door as Olson exited to arrest Sluman.

⁷ Violation of state law and agency regulations and procedures have no relevance in a Fourth Amendment inquiry. *See Mullenix v. Luna*, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S. Ct. 305, 314, 193 L. Ed. 2d 255 (2015) (although officer ignored supervisor's directive to "stand by" and instead shot Mr. Mullenix several times, the court found the use of force was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment); *Davis v. Scherer*, 468 U.S. 183, 194, 104 S. Ct. 3012, 82 L. Ed. 2d 139 (1984) (violation of established procedure alone is insufficient to overcome entitlement to qualified immunity); *Bell v. City of E. Cleveland*, 125 F.3d 855 (6th Cir. 1997) (same); *see generally Virginia v. Moore*, 553 U.S. 164, 128 S. Ct. 1598, 170 L. Ed. 2d 559 (2008) (even if state law precludes arrest for certain misdemeanors, such as statutory restriction, it is immaterial because a proper Fourth Amendment analysis is based

be granted to correct these misapplications of law and fact.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The issues presented by this case meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) for reasons explained below.

- A. The Court of Appeals Undermines RCW 4.24.420 by Ruling That the Statute Does Not Preclude this Personal Injury Claim by a Felon Injured by Committing a Felony
 - 1. The Court of Appeals ruled that RCW 4.24.420 may not bar Sluman's personal injury claim if the force used to apprehend Sluman was an intervening proximate cause

RCW 4.24.420 states:

It is a complete defense to any action for damages for personal injury or wrongful death that the person injured or killed was engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death and the felony was a proximate cause of the injury or death. However, nothing in this section shall affect a right of action under 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1983.

Mr. Sluman did not raise an intervening/superseding cause argument in opposition to summary judgment. CP at 437-532. Nonetheless, a divided Court of Appeals ruled "that questions of fact as to proximate causation . . . preclude summary judgment in favor of the State." *Sluman*, ¶ 115. They agreed with Sluman's argument that "Olson's parking of the car and opening of the car door superseded any conduct of Sluman in

solely on the existence of probable cause to arrest); *Latits v. Phillips*, 878 F.3d 541, 553 (6th Cir. 2017) (violation of police department policies did not affect the determination of whether lethal force was justified).

causing the injuries." *Sluman*, ¶¶ 117, 143 (Lawrence-Berry, J. concurring) ("Proximate cause is absent if an intervening act has broken the chain of causation."). Judge Korsmo disagreed: "There should be no question that the injury occurred at the conclusion of the incident and resulted from his crime." *Sluman*, ¶ 151. Judge Korsmo concluded that the panel's proximate cause ruling frustrated the statute's "complete defense" when committing a felony is a cause of a person's injury, and observed that the court had added an "intentional tort" exception to application of the statute. *Sluman*, ¶ 150 and n.4.

Given this sharp split over the meaning of this statute in this exemplary situation where apprehending a felon during commission of a felony causes personal injury, the Court should review if Sluman's personal injury claims are barred by this statute.

2. The Court of Appeals proximate cause reasoning is error and frustrates the clear statutory purpose

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that there is a question of fact regarding intervening proximate cause conflicts with this Court's rulings on proximate case and contradicts the plain intent of the statute. The test for superseding cause is precise and not applicable here.

[I]n determining whether an intervening act constitutes a superseding cause, the relevant considerations under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 442 (1965)^[8] are . . .

⁸ See App. C.

whether (1) the intervening act created a different type of harm than otherwise would have resulted from the actor's negligence, (2) the intervening act was "extraordinary" or resulted in extraordinary consequences, (3) the intervening act operated independently of any situation created by the actor's negligence.

Campbell v. ITE Imperial Corp., 107 Wn.2d 807, 812-13, 733 P.2d 969 (1987) (emphasis in original). The intervening cause here is outside these requirements. It is not a "different type of harm" than would have resulted from felonious motorcycle driving. It is not "extraordinary," in quality or consequences. It is not "independent" of the situation created by Sluman's conduct; it directly flows from police seeking to halt a felony.

Similarly, an intervening criminal act is not a superseding cause where a negligent actor should have recognized that the criminal act could occur. *See Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 449 (1965); ⁹ *Campbell*, 107 Wn.2d at 817; *Anderson v. Dreis & Krump Mfg. Corp.*, 48 Wn. App. 432, 442, 739 P.2d 1177 (1987).

These conclusions are doubly important here because this case involves a statute. When analyzing a claim of a superseding cause in the context of statutory liability, courts must preserve the fundamental goals of the statute. *Albertson v. State*, 191 Wn. App. 284, 298, 361 P.3d 808 (2015). In *Albertson*, the court examined RCW 26.44.050, the statute that creates

⁹ See App. C.

an implied cause of action for negligent investigation of an allegation of child abuse. The court noted that, because child abuse was the kind of harm the statute was designed to address, the State could not argue that child abuse was an unforeseeable, superseding cause. *Id.*

Similarly, RCW 4.24.420 addresses injuries caused by commission of a felony and Sluman injured himself driving his motorcycle while eluding law enforcement. Since claims for injury caused by commission of the felony is what the statute bars, the fact that the injury occurred as police sought to halt the felony should not defeat the statute. That cause is not different, not extraordinary, and is fully foreseeable. A person committing a felony would reasonably foresee that police will attempt to apprehend and prevent commission of the felony.

But the Court of Appeals claimed it was not reasonably foreseeable that law enforcement will use injurious force to apprehend a fleeing felon. That turns RCW 4.24.420 on its head by using that additional cause of the injury to negate the fact that commission of the felony is a clear proximate cause here. This insertion of superseding proximate cause cannot be harmonized with language and purpose of the statute to provide a "complete defense" to "any action" for personal injury under state law.

Just as it was error of law in *Albertson* to instruct a jury on the issue of superseding cause, it would be error here to allow a question of fact on

superseding proximate cause. The ruling below conflicts with *Albertson*, *Campbell*, and this Court's case law on superseding proximate cause. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).¹⁰

B. The Court Should Review the Court of Appeals Denial of Qualified Immunity to Sgt. Olson

1. Overview of two-part test for qualified immunity on § 1983 claims

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