FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/29/2018 1:02 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 962251 Court of Appeals No. 344673

\_\_\_\_\_

### THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

## THOMAS L. SLUMAN, a single person,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON by and through the WASHINGTON STATE PATROL; BART H. OLSON, individually and in his official capacity as a TROOPER of the WASHINGTON STATE PATROL; and Jane/John Does I-X, individually and as Employees/Agents of the WASHINGTON STATE PATROL and/or the STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendants-Petitioners.

\_\_\_\_\_

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

### VI. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals determination that Olson is not entitled to summary judgment dismissing Sluman's § 1983 claims based on the federal common law governing qualified immunity is well-grounded in federal precedent and does not justify review under RAP 13.4(b).

"The doctrine of qualified immunity shields officials from civil liability so long as their conduct does not violate clearly established constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known." *Mullenix v. Luna*, — U.S. —, 136 S. Ct. 305, 308 (2015) (quotation omitted). Qualified immunity is an affirmative defense to § 1983 claims based on federal common law. *See Triplett v. Washington State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 193 Wn. App. 497, 509, 373 P.3d 279, 285, *rev. denied*, 186 Wn.2d 1023, 383 P.3d 1024 (2016). On summary judgment,

the facts and all reasonable inferences from the facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to Sluman, as the non-moving party. *See Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372, 378-380 (2007).

In its exhaustive opinion, including appendices summarizing applicable federal case law, the Court of Appeals unanimously concluded that Olson was not entitled to summary judgment on the issue of qualified immunity. The Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable seizure prohibits the use of lethal force to apprehend a fleeing suspect in the absence of an immediate threat of serious physical harm or death. See Tennessee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 11 (1985). This right is clearly established in the context of blocking and/or striking a motorcycle on which an unarmed and nonviolent suspect is attempting to flee. See Brower v. County of Inyo, 489 U.S. 593 (1989); *Hawkins v. City of Farmington*, 189 F.3d 695 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999); Donovan v. City of Milwaukee, 17 F.3d 944, 949-50 (7th Cir. 1994); Vaughan v. Cox, 343 F.3d 1323 (11th Cir. 2003); Adams v. Speers, 473 F.3d 989 (9th Cir. 2007); Walker v. Davis, 649 F.3d 502 (6th Cir. 2011). This conclusion is bolstered by Olson's violations of "many Washington State Patrol rules" implementing the prohibition against the use of lethal force to apprehend a fleeing suspect in the absence of an immediate threat of harm. Sluman, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 682 (citing Gutierrez v. City of San Antonio, 139) F.3d 441, 449 (5th Cir. 1998); *Scott v. Henrich*, 39 F.3d 912, 915-16 (9th Cir. 1994); and *Tennessee v. Garner*, *supra*).

Olson claims that the Court of Appeals improperly viewed the facts with the benefit of "20/20 hindsight." See Pet. for Rev., at 2-3 & 13-15. However, the only example he gives is the court's statement "that under Mr. Sluman's version of the facts no officer knew that Mr. Sluman sought to elude the police." Id. at 14; see also Sluman, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 677 (stating "[e]ven under the State's version of the facts .... [n]o officer knew that Sluman discerned he was being pursued"; brackets & ellipses added). Inexplicably, Olson provides no citation to the record establishing that he or any other officers knew that Sluman was trying to elude them. See Pet. for Rev., at 14. In actuality, the record indicates that, after Sluman was clocked speeding from the air, he exited the freeway, stopped at a stop sign, and used his turn signal before proceeding. See CP 390, 510 & 514. The pursuing officer had to make a U-turn before initiating pursuit, and did not attempt to maintain contact with Sluman since he could be observed from the air. He never got closer than half a mile from Sluman. CP 515-16. There is no evidence that Sluman saw him or any other officer before he was doorchecked by Olson. Under these circumstances, the Court of Appeals properly applied the summary judgment standard of review when it stated that no officer knew that Sluman discerned he was being pursued. The court otherwise acknowledged its obligation to "judge the reasonableness of the force exacted by a law enforcement officer from the perspective of a reasonable officer on the scene, rather than with hindsight." *Sluman*, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 674.

Next, Olson suggests that the Court of Appeals decision increases the threat of serious physical harm or death required to justify lethal force, from one that is merely "immediate" or "imminent" to one that "already exists." Pet. for Rev., at 2-3, 15 & 19. This is simply incorrect. In the superior court, Olson argued that the mere "potential" for harm justifies lethal force. See CP 20 (line 3, arguing Sluman was "potentially endangering the lives of motorists" without citation to evidence; emphasis added); CP 30 (line 17, arguing that Olson was attempting "to avoid potential harm to innocent drivers and passengers on the road" without citation to evidence; emphasis added); CP 32 (line 18, arguing Sluman "was potentially dangerous to himself, law enforcement, other drivers and/or their passengers" without citation to evidence; emphasis added). Recognizing for the first time on appeal that this is insufficient to justify the use of lethal force, Olson distorted the record in order to support an argumentative characterization that Sluman created an "immediate" threat of harm. See Sluman Reply Br., at 7-14. Now, Olson attempts to distinguish immediate or imminent harm from already-existing harm. It is just new

phrasing for the same argument he has made before, and it is completely lacking factual and legal support. The Court of Appeals properly held that "the theoretical possibility that people may be in the area" does not justify the use of lethal force, especially in light of the other circumstances present here. *Sluman*, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 682.

Olson also contends that the Court of Appeals "inverts" the "clearly established" element of qualified immunity by noting the absence of onpoint authority cited by Olson to support his argument. Pet. for Rev., at 17-20. In actuality, the Court of Appeals' decision is well-grounded in closely analogous federal case law. See Brower, supra; Hawkins, supra; Donovan, supra; Vaughan, supra; Adams, supra; Walker, supra. Olson does not address any of this authority, except to say that the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals decision in Vaughan has been questioned by a later U.S. District Court decision. Pet. for Rev., at 20 n.15. The fact that the cases cited by Olson were distinguishable because they involved immediate threats of serious physical harm or death, unlike this case, does not mean that the Court of Appeals erred in conducting its analysis of qualified immunity.

In any event, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and other decisions from this Court or the Court of Appeals, as required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). An alleged conflict with

federal case law (although there is no such conflict here) is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

There is no "significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States" as required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the defense of qualified immunity is a matter of federal common law. While the defense involves consideration of whether the complaint alleges violation of a clearly established constitutional right, the constitutional right at issue here is well-settled and not reasonably susceptible to dispute. *See Tennessee v. Garner, supra.* The analysis of whether the constitutional right is sufficiently clear to invoke qualified immunity is not itself a constitutional issue. It merely involves application of federal common law to the particular facts of this case.

Finally, there is no "issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court as required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the analysis of qualified immunity is fact-dependent—meaning a decision in this case will provide little guidance in future cases; and governed by federal law—meaning that this Court does not have the last word and the precedential effect of a decision will be limited. While every case against state actors can be said to involve an element of public interest, the interest must be "substantial" and the issue must be one that "should be decided by" this Court to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The issue here is not substantial because it involves application of settled law regarding qualified immunity to the particular facts of this case, and it does not need to be decided by this Court because it is a matter of federal law.

B. The Court of Appeals determination that there are questions of fact regarding the State and Olson's affirmative defense based on the felony bar statute, RCW 4.24.420, under the unique circumstances present in this case does not satisfy any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

The felony bar statute provides:

It is a complete defense to any action for damages for personal injury or wrongful death that the person injured or killed was engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury or death and the felony was a proximate cause of the injury or death. However, nothing in this section shall affect a right of action under 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1983.

RCW 4.24.420. By its terms, this statute is inapplicable to Sluman's federal civil rights claims. As to his state law claims, it is an affirmative defense on which the State and Olson bear the burden of proof. *See* CR 8(c) (defining affirmative defenses); *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn. 2d 684, 693, 317 P.3d 987 (2014) (noting defendants have burden of proof on affirmative defenses). Because they have the burden of proof, the State and Olson are obligated to produce evidence on every element of the defense, demonstrate that there are no genuine issues of material fact, and establish that they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See Young v. Key Pharms.*, *Inc.*, 112 Wn. 2d 216, 225-26, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). The Court

of Appeals properly held that the State and Olson failed to satisfy this burden because there are genuine issues of material fact whether Sluman's conduct was a proximate cause of his injuries or whether the Olson's conduct was instead a superseding cause.

The felony bar statute incorporates, but does not define, the phrase "proximate cause," as an essential element of the defense. RCW 4.24.420. Where the Legislature uses statutory language that has a well-established common law meaning, it is presumed that the statute should be interpreted in accordance with the common law. See New York Life Ins. Co. v. Jones, 86 Wn. 2d 44, 47, 541 P.2d 989 (1975). The common law meaning of proximate cause is "a cause which in a direct sequence [unbroken by any superseding cause,] produces the [injury] [event] complained of and without which such [injury] [event] would not have happened." 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. WPI 15.01 (6th ed.) (brackets & formatting in original). The question of proximate cause is ordinarily for the jury unless the facts and reasonable inferences from the facts are undisputed. See id., WPI 15.01 cmt.; N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist., 186 Wn. 2d 422, 378 P.3d 162, 169 (2016); cf. Geschwind v. Flanagan, 121 Wn. 2d 833, 854 P.2d 1061 (1993) (holding it was a question of fact whether a passenger could be more at fault than driver under statute prohibiting recovery if plaintiff is intoxicated, such intoxication is a proximate cause of his injuries, and the plaintiff was more than 50% at fault, RCW 5.40.060).

The common law definition of "proximate cause" includes the concept of superseding cause. See 6A Wash. Prac., supra WPI 15.01. A superseding cause is a new independent cause that is deemed to break the chain of causation between a party's negligence and an injury or event. See id., WPI 15.05 & cmt. The touchstone for superseding cause is foreseeability. See Washburn v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn. 2d 732, 761, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) (noting that "[u]nforeseeable intervening acts break the chain of causation"; brackets added). Intentional tortious or criminal conduct that is not foreseeable is generally deemed to be a superseding cause. See id. The question of superseding cause is a question of fact for the jury. See Michaels v. CH2M Hill, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 587, 613, 257 P.3d 532, 545 (2011). As the Court of Appeals held, a jury should be entitled to determine whether Trooper Olson's conduct in setting up the impromptu roadblock and door checking Sluman was a superseding cause of his injuries.

The State and Olson appear to argue that review is warranted simply because the Court of Appeals panel was not unanimous. *See* Pet. for Rev., at 8-9. In particular, the State and Olson rely on Judge Korsmo's partial dissent to argue that there is no "intentional tort" exception to the felony bar

statute. *See* Pet. for Rev., at 9. This argument is not based on a fair portrayal of the Court of Appeals decision or its reasoning, which is grounded in the well-established common-law meaning of the "proximate cause" language of the felony bar statute rather than a form of impermissible judicial legislation. The partial dissent does not acknowledge or address the common law meaning of the phrase proximate cause as used in the felony bar statute. *See Sluman*, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 712-13 & n.4 (Korsmo, J., dissenting in part). In any event, disagreement among a panel of the Court of Appeals in a single case is not one of the criteria for review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

The State and Olson also contend that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Campbell v. ITE Imperial Corp.*, 107 Wn. 2d 807, 812-13, 733 P.2d 969 (1987), and the Court of Appeals decision in *Albertson v. State*, 191 Wn. App. 284, 298, 361 P.3d 808 (2015). Pet. for Rev., at 9-11. While a conflict in the case law would satisfy the criteria for review in RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), there is no conflict here.

In *Campbell*, the Court determined that the negligence of an injured person's employer was a superseding cause of the defendant-product manufacturer's liability for its unsafe product. *See* 107 Wn. 2d at 808 ("The principal issue in this case is whether the negligence of appellant's employer in failing to warn of or protect appellant from respondent's allegedly unsafe

product constitutes an intervening act legally sufficient to operate as a superseding cause"). *Campbell* does not involve facts comparable to this case. Nonetheless, the Court relied on provisions of the Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965) that support the Court of Appeals decision that an unforeseeable intentional or criminal act can be a superseding cause of another person's injuries. *See Campbell*, 107 Wn. 2d at 812-13 (discussing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 442(a)-(c)); Restatement § 442(e)-(f) & cmts. (e)-(f) (regarding acts of another as superseding cause; referring to Restatement § 448); Restatement § 448 (regarding intentional acts done under opportunity afforded by actor's negligence as superseding cause).

In *Albertson*, the Court of Appeals held that a third party's abuse of a child was not a superseding cause of injury to the child caused by breach of the State's statutory duty to investigate allegations of child abuse because child abuse is the very harm that the State's duty is designed to prevent. *See* 191 Wn. App. at 298-99. The felony bar statute is not analogous to the statute at issue in *Albertson*. By its terms, the felony bar statute does not preclude recovery for injuries unless those injures were proximately caused by the commission of a felony. *Albertson* relied on *Campbell* and the same Restatement provisions cited in *Campbell* that support the Court of Appeals

decision. *See id.* Because there is no conflict between this case and *Campbell* or *Albertson*, review should be denied.<sup>1</sup>

### VII. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the State's and Olson's Petition for Review.